No. 22-0028

KANAWHA COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION, a political subdivision, GEORGE AULENBACHER, Principal, and BRAD MARANO, Assistant Principal, Defendants Below,

DO NOT REMOVE

vs.

Petitioners

S.D., a minor, by and through her parents and next friend, J.D., Plaintiffs Below,

Respondents.

PETITIONERS' BRIEF

Jace H. Goins, Esquire WV State Bar ID No. 6894 STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC P.O. Box 1588 Charleston WV 25326-1588 304-353-8000 304-353-8180 (fax) jace.goins@steptoe-johnson.com

Counsel for Petitioners Kanawha County Board of Education, George Aulenbacher, and Brad Marano

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The trial court found that the individual Defendants below/Petitioners, George Aulenbacher (Principal) and Brad Marano (Assistant Principal), did not act maliciously, in bad faith, or in a wanton and reckless manner. It is undisputed that the individual Petitioners were acting within the scope of their employment at all times complained of, and Respondent S.D. has not identified any other basis for their liability per the West Virginia Code. Consequently, Mr. Aulenbacher and Mr. Marano are entitled to dismissal from this suit in accordance with West Virginia Code section 29-12A-5(b).

2. The trial court recognized that Respondent S.D.'s argument is that the school officials disciplined her fellow minor student for a Level II violation per the Kanawha County Board of Education handbook, as opposed to a Level III violation, such that the fellow minor student returned to school earlier than he should have, providing the opportunity for a second incident to occur. In short, Respondent S.D. argues that the county school board is negligent for failure to abide by policy. The Kanawha County Board of Education is, therefore, immune from suit and entitled to dismissal accordance with West Virginia Code section 29-12A-5(a)(4).

3. Section 18A-5-1(f) of the West Virginia Code provides the Kanawha County Board of Education with the exclusive authority to administer proper discipline in the public schools of Kanawha County. This Court has recognized that "Courts should not interfere with the decision of the school board officials in disciplinary matters except in extreme cases." *Keith v. Ball*, 177 W.Va. 93, 350 S.E.2d 720, 722 (1986) (citations omitted). As a matter of law, the Kanawha County Board of Education owed the Respondent no legal duty to discipline a fellow minor student for a Level III violation, as opposed to a Level II, per disciplinary terms of the Kanawha County

Board of Education handbook. The Kanawha County Board of Education is entitled to dismissal of this suit as it did not breach a legal duty owed to the Respondent.

4. This Court has long-recognized that the general rule is that there can be no recovery for mental suffering without presence of a physical injury. See Monteleone v. Co-operative Transit Co., 128 W.Va. 340, 36 S.E.2d 475 (1945) (overruled by Heldreth v. Marrs, 188 W.Va. 481, 425 S.E.2d 157 (1992)). This Court has identified only a few exceptions to the foregoing rule, such as the "dead body" exception (where the emotional distress claimed is not spurious, Ricotilli v. Summersville Mem. Hosp., 188 W.Va. 674, 425 S.E.2d 629 (1992), the fear of contracting a disease to which the claimant was actually exposed, Marlin v. Bill Rich Const., Inc., 198 W.Va. 635, 482 S.E.2d 620 (1996), and witnessing someone closely related suffering critical injury or death, Heldreth v. Marrs, 188 W.Va. 481, 425 S.E.2d 157 (1992). Initially, Respondent S.D. failed to plead a claim of negligent infliction of emotional distress. Moreover, the Respondent has not identified any applicable exception to the general rule that she could recover for alleged mental suffering without presence of a physical injury. This case alleging negligence without any accompanying ascertainable physical injury must be dismissed.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In this case, Respondent S.D., suffering no physical injury, disputes the disciplinary action taken against another student by a public school Principal and Assistant Principal clothed with statutory immunities. Petitioners, the Kanawha County Board of Education, George Aulenbacher, Principal of George Washington High School, and Brad Marano, Assistant Principal of George Washington High School, bring this appeal as the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia failed to dismiss this suit against them in accordance with the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act and substantive law.

On January 29, 2018, Respondent S.D., a student at George Washington High School, was walking in the hallway of the school when another student, M.P., grabbed or touched her on her "private area". [A.R. at 5 at ¶ 14; A.R. at 646-7]. S.D. went directly to the school office1 and advised Petitioner, Principal George Aulenbacher, that "she had been hit on the behind - - smacked on the butt in the hallway by another student. [A.R. at 300]. Principal Aulenbacher "asked her . . 'What would you like me to do about it?""?: Respondent S.D. stated that she did not want the student to be disciplined and, instead, simply wanted to inform someone about what occurred. Id. Petitioner Marano, Vice Principal of George Washington High School, saw Respondent S.D. in Principal Aulenbacher's office and stepped in, asking Respondent S.D. if she was "in trouble or something?" [A.R. at 346]. Respondent S.D. then advised Vice Principal Marano that she was not in trouble; "some boy walked by and slapped her on the butt." Id. Respondent S.D. repeated to Vice Principal Marano that she did not "want to do anything about it", but Petitioner Marano stated to her " 'nobody should touch you in any way or hit your anything No matter if you want to do anything about it or not, come with me; we're going to do something about it." [A.R. at 347]. According to Vice Principal Marano, Respondent S.D. "was pretty nonchalant about it and didn't want anything done" which "shocked me". [A.R. at 350]. Importantly, and contrary to the Respondent's entire theory of this case, Petitioner Marano did not know who it was that allegedly smacked S.D. [A.R. at 347].

It was ascertained that the other student was M.P., a basketball player. [A.R. at 247]. Vice Principal Marano called M.P. into his office later that day and advised M.P. that there was a report of him "smack[ing] a girl on the butt walking down the hallway"; M.P. admitted to Petitioner

¹ A.R. at 648.

² A.R. at 300.

Marano, "'Yeah. I shouldn't have done that." [A.R. at 349]. Vice Principal Marano thus suspended M.P. for two days for an "indecent act on a student." [A.R. at 349]. Due to the suspension, M.P. was not at school Tuesday, January 30, 2018 and Wednesday, January 31, 2018. *Id.*

On February 1, 2018, when M.P. returned to school at George Washington High School, he reportedly "flinched" at Respondent S.D. while she was walking in the hallway. [A.R. at 655], Respondent S.D. returned to Vice Principal Marano, indicating that M.P. "'smiled at me'", and that she was leaving. [A.R. at 352]. Petitioner Marano followed Respondent S.D. to the parking lot and talked to her mother, stating "'Hey, she's upset. [M.P.] is back today. She said he smiled at her." [A.R. at 352]. Vice Principal Marano advised Respondent S.D. and her mother that he could not take disciplinary action against a student for looking at another student and smiling, but assured Respondent S.D.'s mother that he would call M.P.'s parents. [A.R. at 353]. Vice Principal Marano believes Respondent S.D., a cheerleader, "came back the next day or even practiced that evening with the cheerleaders." [A.R. at 353].

Notably, the foregoing two (2) incidents are the only incidents occurring between M.P. and Respondent S.D. [A.R. at 667]. Also notable, Respondent S.D. was a sophomore at the time, M.P. a freshman, and the two were in vicinity of each other "while he was playing basketball and [S.D. was] a cheerleader." [A.R. at 700].

M.P.'s brother messaged Respondent S.D.'s boyfriend via social media; however, there was nothing directed toward S.D. [A.R. at 638].³ Nevertheless, on February 5, 2018, Respondent S.D.'s mother spoke with Vice Principal Marano about the messages, and he escorted her to the School Resource [Police] Officer (hereinafter "SRO"). [A.R. at 353]. Petitioner Marano and the

³ Respondent S.D. also discovered " 'a pipe thrown at [her house]" but " 'can't prove it was them" [A.R. at 687].

SRO recommended Respondent obtain a restraining order against M.P., and Petitioner Marano believes the SRO gave Respondent S.D.'s mother "some paperwork and stuff." [A.R. at 353]. Consequently, a temporary personal safety order was entered on that date. [A.R. 6 at ¶ 24]. Shortly thereafter, at a basketball game held at the South Charleston recreational center (not a school facility) M.P. and his mother "w[ere] looking at" Respondent S.D. Also, M.P.'s father reportedly said "something" to Respondent S.D.'s step-father, and the families were "going back and forth." [A.R. at 668]. Respondent S.D. left during the middle of the game. [A.R. at 672]. The Respondent did, however, return and cheer at the girls' basketball game. [A.R. at 537].

The temporary personal safety order was granted without a hearing. [A.R. at 500]. Per the temporary order, M.P. could not participate in sports, and was to check in with the SRO *Id.* A hearing was held on February 16, 2018 and a final order was entered which allowed M.P.'s athletic participation. [A.R. at 501; A.R. 6 at ¶25]. According to Vice Principal Marano, he was unaware that M.P.'s basketball coach was participating in the final hearing and, in fact, knew nothing of the modified order until the SRO showed it to him. [A.R. at 386]. Likewise, Principal Aulenbacher did not know what took place at the February 16, 2018 hearing and did not authorize the basketball coach's attendance. [A.R. at 318-9].

Respondent S.D. initiated this civil action on February 25, 2019. [A.R. at 1; A.R. at 3]. The Complaint alleged "Negligent Conduct (Against The Kanawha County Board of Education)" maintaining that the county board of education "failed to properly supervise" her, allowing another student to cause her alleged injuries. [A.R. at 6-7].⁴ In Count II, the Respondent alleged

⁴ Notably, with regard to the initial incident, when asked "Is there something that you think the school should have done to prevent [M.P.] from touching your private area?" Respondent S.D. answered "I don't think that they can necessarily control the actions that students decide." [A.R. at 711-12]. Similarly, S.D.'s mother was asked "Is there anything . . . the school could have done to prevent the incident that happened on January 29th . . .?" and answered "I don't think they could have controlled someone's behavior. So - - . . . as far as the incident, no, I don't". [A.R. 562].

"Negligence, Misfeasance, Nonfeasance, Carelessness and/or Recklessness (Against Defendant Aulenbacher)" contending that, as Principal of George Washington High School, Petitioner Aulenbacher allowed one minor student to harass or threaten her. [A.R. at 7]. Count III of Respondent S.D.'s Complaint alleged the same claim against Vice Principal Marano⁵, while Count IV alleged negligent supervision against "John Doe and Jane Doe". [A.R. at 8]. In Count V, Respondent alleged "Vicarious Liability" against the Kanawha County Board of Education, *specifically alleging liability for the individual Petitioners acting within the course and scope of their employment*. [A.R. at 9-10]. Finally, Count VI alleged punitive damages against the individual Petitioners. [A.R. 11].⁶

The focus of this litigation is M.P.'s discipline, although Respondent S.D. readily admits *"it's not my job to decide what his punishment should be."* [A.R. at 709 (emphasis added)]. Indeed, Respondent S.D. has argued the individual Petitioners erred by "[f]ailing to remove M.P. from the school and the presence of S.D. on multiple occasions. M.P. was only suspended for two days for the first sexual assault of S.D., then allowed to return to the school where a second attempted sexual assault took place. M.P. was not even suspended by either Defendant after this incident because 'he was a vital member of the basketball team'". [A.R. at 777]. Respondent S.D. thereafter argued:

The GWHS handbook lays out in more detail what punishments will be given for the different violations listed above. An indecent act towards another student is punishable by only 1-3 [days'] out of school suspension, while an act of sexual misconduct is punishable by up to 10 days of out of school suspension, and an act of bullying or harassment is a minimum of 3 days out of school suspension. All of these punishments are for first offenses only, second offense to sexual misconduct is expulsion, and second offense to bullying or harassment is 5 days of out of school suspension.

⁵ A.R. at 8.

⁶ Count VII claimed damages. [A.R. at 11].

In this case, Defendants found that M.P. had only committed an indecent act towards another student despite clear definitions of what sexual misconduct and sexual harassment/violence are. M.P., without the consent of Plaintiff, placed his hand in between Plaintiff's thighs, on her vaginal area, and grabbed her, holding for approximately 10 seconds.

[A.R. at 226]. As stated previously, Respondent S.D. did not advise Petitioners Aulenbacher and Marano of any "grabbing", only that a student smacked her bottom and she did not want him punished. Notably, Respondent S.D.'s mother did not request a suspension longer than 2 days or request expulsion or dismissal from the basketball team. [A.R. at 512-3].

M.P. was suspended for 2 days for an "indecent act" which, under Kanawha County Board

of Education Policy, is:

Profane Language/Obscene Gesture/Indecent Act Toward an Employee or Student. A student will not direct profane language, obscene gestures, or indecent acts towards a school employee or a fellow student. This inappropriate behavior includes but is not limited to, verbal, written, electronic and/or illustrative communications intended to offend or humiliate.

[KCBOE J25.07.1.3.8, A.R. at 836]. An "indecent act" is a Level II Violation: "Level II Violations. Disruptive and Potentially Harmful Behaviors – disrupt the educational process and/or pose potential harm or danger to self or others. The behavior is committed willfully but not in a manner that is intended maliciously to cause harm or danger to self and/or others." [KCBOE J25.07.1.3, A.R. at 834-35]. Per the George Washington High School Behavior Chart, a first offense Level 2 "indecent act" violation warrants 1 to 3 days of out of school suspension. [A.R. at 816].

Respondent S.D. mistakenly believes M.P.'s behavior was the Level III violation of "Sexual Misconduct". See J25.07.1.5.10, A.R. at 839-40. Such act, however, must be "of a sexual nature." *Id.* Notably, however, a first offense of Sexual Misconduct results in like discipline in that it can result in "UP TO 10 OSS/PEX". [A.R. at 817]. Vice Principal Marano confirmed that in his investigation, the offense had nothing "to do with being sexual". [A.R. at 26].

Petitioners moved to dismiss the litigation seeking dismissal of the punitive damages claim against all Petitioners and asserting Respondent failed to state a claim against the individual Defendants as to all Counts in accordance with the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act. [A.R. at 764]. The trial court found that the individual Petitioners' "actions did not constitute actions done with malicious purpose, in bad faith, or in a wanton or reckless manner"⁷, but the court only dismissed the punitive damages claim against all Petitioners. [A.R. at 792]. Indeed, the trial court erroneously held that "[t]he plaintiff's remaining claims are not impacted by this Order." *Id.*

Following additional discovery, Petitioners moved, substantively, for summary judgment on Respondent's claims against them. [A.R. at 27; A.R. at 30]. Petitioners challenged legal duty and Respondent's admitted lack of any ascertainable physical injury. [A.R. at 31].⁸ Again, however, Petitioners' motion was denied. [A.R. at 258]. In denying the motion, the trial court expressly noted Respondent's challenge to the disciplinary action taken by the Petitioners against her fellow student. [A.R. at 268 at ¶ 51]. The trial court improperly held that "there is a genuine issue of material fact as to whether Defendants breached a duty owed to the Plaintiff and whether the Plaintiff was further injured by Defendants' response to the offenses committed by M.P. against the Plaintiff." [A.R. at 269 at ¶ 54].

⁷ A.R. at 791.

⁸ Respondent S.D. conceded that she did not suffer an ascertainable physical injury. In her deposition testimony, Respondent S.D. was asked, "Now, going back to the — the original incident where he put his hand on your private area. Did you have any — it doesn't sound like it, but I've got to ask the question — any type of injury, like a bruise or scratch or anything like that?" [A.R. at 666]. Respondent S.D. responded, "[n]o." *Id.* Respondent S.D. also admitted that she did not sustain a physical injury from the second incident because M.P. did not touch her at that time, *Id.*

As Petitioners noted in their answer:

Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) of the WV Rules of Civil Procedure, Plaintiff's Complaint fails to state a cause of action upon which relief may be granted. The Defendants have filed an accompanying Motion to Dismiss pursuant to the immunities afforded to them under the West Virginia Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act and *Miller v. Carelink Health Plans, Inc.*, 82 F.Supp.2d 574, 579 n. 6 (S.D. W.Va. 2000) (holding that 'West Virginia law does not recognize an independent cause of action for punitive damages').

[A.R. at 15]. Petitioners further "plead all immunities available to them under state and federal constitutions and statutory and common law." [A.R. at 23]. The Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act was also specifically raised in Petitioners' Answer. *Id.* As this Court has noted, " '[i]mmunities under West Virginia law are more than a defense to a suit in that they grant governmental bodies and public officials the right not to be subject to the burden of trial at all." *State ex rel. Grant Count Comm 'n v. Nelson*, 244 W.Va. 649, 856 S.E.2d 608, 618 (2021) (quoting *Hutchison v. City of Huntington*, 198 W. Va. 139, 148, 479 S.E.2d 649, 658 (1996)). The trial court's denial of Petitioners' motion to dismiss, and motion for summary judgment, unnecessarily exposes the Kanawha County school board and its agents to burdens specifically eliminated by the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act. Consequently, the trial courts' orders must be reversed, and the case remanded for the purposes of dismissing the Petitioners from this suit.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Initially, this Court should remand for entry of judgment dismissing the individual Petitioners as West Virginia Code section 29-12A-5(b) affords them immunity for actions not manifestly outside the scope of their employment, not malicious or in bad faith, or not barred by another Code provision. Additionally, this Court should remand for entry of judgment dismissing Petitioner Kanawha County Board of Education pursuant to the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, West Virginia Code section 29-12A-5(a)(4), as Respondent S.D. alleges the Board failed to abide by Kanawha County Schools policy. Along those lines, dismissal is also appropriate as the Kanawha County Board of Education is statutorily authorized to exclusively administer the proper discipline in its schools under West Virginia Code section 18A-5-1(f).

Finally, this Court should enforce its precedent that there can be no recovery for mental suffering without presence of a physical injury absent exceptional circumstances not present herein. Pursuant to that precedent, this case should be remanded for entry of judgment of the Petitioners' dismissal.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT OR DECISION

Because the Circuit Court failed to apply settled law governing the Governmental Tort Claims and Insurance Reform Act, failed to apply this Court's well-established precedent governing causes of action alleging mental suffering with no ascertainable physical injury and improper judicial interference in public school disciplinary matters, and erroneously denied the Petitioners' Motion to Dismiss and Motion for Summary Judgment, R. App. P. 19 oral argument in this case is appropriate. Because Petitioners seek reversal of the trial court, a Memorandum Decision is not recommended per R. App. P. 21(d).

V. ARGUMENT

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has stated:

It is well-established that '[t]his Court reviews *de novo* the denial of a motion for summary judgment, where such a ruling is properly reviewable by this Court.' Syl. Pt. 1, *Findley v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 213 W.Va. 80, 576 S.E.2d 807 (2002). Moreover, '[a] circuit court's denial of summary judgment that is predicated on qualified immunity is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the 'collateral order' doctrine.' Syl. Pt. 2, *Robinson v. Pack*, 223 W.Va. 828, 679 S.E.2d 660 (2009). This review, however, is guided by the following principle regarding immunity:

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