KANAWHA COUNTY BOARD
OF EDUCATION, a political subdivision,
GEORGE AULENBACKER, principal,
BRAD MARANO, assistant principal,
Defendants Below,

Petitioners,

v.

S.D., a minor, by and through her parent and next friend. J.D.,

Respondents.

REDACTED RESPONSE BRIEF ON BEHALF OF S.D.

Joseph H. Spano, Jr.
Pritt & Spano, PLLC
714 ½ Lee Street, E., Suite 204
Charleston, WV 25301
(304) 346-7748
WV State Bar ID No.: 11373
jspano@yourwvlawfirm.com

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

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should uphold the ruling of the judgment of the lower court dismissing the summary judgment motion of the Petitioners. First, the individual Petitioners do not have

immunity under W.Va. Code §29-12a-5(b), as their actions were clearly done in a reckless manner without regard to the county policies and procedures. Second, the Kanawha County Board of Education is not immune from liability under W.Va. code §18A-5-1(f). Finally, there is in fact a physical injury to the Petitioner.

III. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The Respondent does not believe oral argument is necessary unless the Court determines that issues should be addressed in said manner. If the Court determines that oral argument is necessary, this case is appropriate for a Rule 19 argument and disposition by memorandum decision.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

"A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo." Syl. pt. 1, *Painter v. Peavy*, 192 W.Va. 189, 451 S.E.2d 755 (1994). Similarly, we previously have stated, and now so hold, that this Court "review[s] de novo, the denial of [a] motion for summary judgment," *Adkins v. Chevron*, USA, Inc., 199 W.Va. 518, 522, 485 S.E.2d 687, 691 (1997).

"An appellate court reviews de novo the denial of a motion for summary judgment, where such a ruling is properly reviewable by the court. A circuit court's denial of summary judgment that is predicated on qualified immunity is an interlocutory ruling which is subject to immediate appeal under the collateral order doctrine. A circuit court's entry of summary judgment is reviewed de novo. However, in cases where interlocutory review of qualified immunity determinations occurs, any summary judgment rulings on grounds other than immunity are reserved for review at the appropriate time should the interlocutory appeal result in finding immunity inapplicable under the circumstances." Ayersman v. Wratchford, Nos. 21-

0174, 21-0181, 2022 W. Va. LEXIS 387, at *1 (May 20, 2022).

"The ultimate determination of whether qualified or statutory immunity bars a civil action is one of law for the court to determine. Therefore, unless there is a bona fide dispute as to the foundational or historical facts that underlie the immunity determination, the ultimate questions of statutory or qualified immunity are ripe for summary disposition. Questions regarding malice are questions for the fact-finder." *Id.* at *1.

"Motions for summary judgment impose a difficult standard on the movant; for, it must be obvious that no rational trier of fact could find for the nonmoving party. *Davis v. Williamson*, 208 F. Supp.2d 631 (N.D. W. Va. 2002). Any permissible inferences to be drawn from the underlying facts must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party opposing the motion.

McLaughlin v. Chrysler Corp., F. Supp.2d 671 (2003). Summary judgment is appropriate where the record taken as a whole could not lead a rational trier of fact to find for the non-moving party." New Hampshire Ins. Co. v. RRK, Inc., 230 W. Va. 52 (2012).

B. The individual Petitioners are NOT immune from this suit in accordance with W.Va. Code §29-12A-5(B).

Respondents Aulenbacher and Morano are clearly not immune from liability under W.Va. Code §29-12A-5(B) as stated in the lower courts final order. Both Respondents acted in a reckless manner as prescribed by their actions above in not finding sexual contact or sexual abuse under the KCBOE Policies and Procedures. Furthermore, this incident was not reported to the KCBOE or the Title IX Department by either Petitioner.

The depositions of the Respondents showed they acted in a reckless manner by not reviewing their own policies and procedures before deciding on the suspension for M.P. Petitioner Marano stated the following:

- Q. Okay. And you believe that she never disclosed to you there was any kind of improper sexual contact; correct?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Now, what do you know the definition of sexual contact to be as defined by Kanawha County Schools?
- A. Sexual -
- O. Contact.
- A. To me, sexual misconduct on our write-form -
- O. uh-huh
- A. is if somebody is together on the bus and they mutually agree to something, or another individual puts their hand down their pants or shirt or something of that nature.
- Q. What about improper touching above the clothes? Do you believe that to be- in a sexual area. Would that be sexual abuse or sexual contact?
- A. It would be- all circumstances are different. I would just have to investigate it and find out. Because they're all handled on an individual basis. So I'd have to get testimony from the people.
- Q. Okay. If a student is deemed to have sexually abused someone-
- A. Uh huh
- Q. at the school, what would the suspension and/or punishment be? Is it suspension? Expulsion? What's your punishment when you deem there's reasonable cause to believe that sexual abuse has taken place?
- A. There, again, sexual abuse, I think, or sexual misconduct would be somebody having sex under the stairwells or putting their hands down each other's pants. If it was mutual, it's handled different. If it was somebody taking advantage of somebody else, then it's usually brought to the County SAT and to see if they're placed at Chandler or allowed to come back to GW.
- Q. Okay
- A. Or it could even go to the hearing examiner as an expulsion case.
- Q. Okay. So you can refer it to the hearing examiner down at the board to do an expulsion. If they're not expelled, what's the what' the amount of the suspension days that you know of?
- A. Off the top of my head, without seeing our form, I believe sexual misconduct is zero to ten days. Up to ten days.
- Q. Okay. But you obviously didn't deem- in your investigation, you did not deem it anything to do with being sexual; correct?
- A. Correct

(AR. at 0365-0367). Petitioner Morano also stated:

- Q. I want you to review first "Sexual Contact" its policy 28-01-5 at the bottom. Right there. Yep.
- A. Oaky
- Q. You're on it. That's it. The part is-
- A. Okay, that's fine.

Q. Okay. I just had you define this. This definition is a little different than what you described before; is that correct?

A. I didn't describe this before.

Q. well, I asked you what would sexual contact or sexual abuse mean to you. And you described a much different- and I don't want to put words in your mouth, because we've got a transcript. But sexual contact, by the definition, means "any intentional touching, either directly or through clothing, of the breast, buttocks, anus, or any part of the sex organs of another person or the intentional touching of any part of another person's body by the actor's sex organs, where the victim is not married to the actor and the touching is done for the purpose of gratifying the sexual desire of either party." Is that correct?

A. Yes

Q. You understand that to mean sexual contact as Kanawha County Schools Policy J28; correct?

A. Yes. As that's stated there. I described sexual misconduct.

O. Okay

A. Not Sexual Contact.

Q. Okay. Now, your testimony is, though, that you believed, after speaking with S.D., that there was or was not any sexual contact between M.P and S.D.?

A. I believe that there was an indecent act of a gentleman walking down the hallway and smacking a girl on the butt and kept going.

Q. Okay

A. There was not sexual gratification in that

Q. But you

A. relayed to me or stated in that way by either party.

Q. Okay. So S.D. said- what did S.D. say as to any kind of gratifying- the purpose gratifying the sexual desire? You didn't believe that she thought M.P. was- it was sexually motivated?

A. S.D. said that a student walked by her in the hallway and smacked her on the rear end.

Q. Okay. And you spoke with M.P.; Correct?

A. Yes

Q. Okay. And what did he have to say as to why he did this?

A. He did not say why. He just couldn't give me an answer why.

Q. Okay.

A. He just said that he did it and he should not have done it.

Q. and in your investigation, you didn't believe it had anything to do with gratifying the sexual desire of either party.

A. Correct.

(A.R. at 0370-0373).

Petitioner Aulenbacher also admitted to never notifying the KCBOE or Title IX

Department about the assault:

Q. If you have reasonable cause to suspect that a child is neglected or abused, including sexual abuse or sexual assault, you must report withing 24 hours after learning; correct?

A. Yes.

(A.R. at 0317). Petitioner Aulenbacher further stated:

- Q. Oaky, in the instant case, did you report the actions that were taken by M.P. against S.D. on January 29th, 2018 to Jean Ann Herscher?
- A. No
- Q. Why?
- A. Because we viewed it as an indecent act.
- Q. Okay. You did not you did not believe this rose to the standard of sexual contact.
- A. Correct
- Q. Okay. But you just testified earlier that you believed that touching over the clothes- you had never been told that was a reportable issue.
- A. Well, we have 1,100 kids
- Q. uh- huh
- A. we have to look at each case individually and try to may the best judgement with each one of those.

(A.R. at 0314).

The lower court was correct in denying the summary judgment motion.

C. The KCBOE is NOT immune from this suit in accordance with W.Va. Code §29-12A-5(A)(4).

The argument of the Petitioner KCBOE is clearly flawed, and it is not immune from this suit. The Petitioner claims that it is immune from liability under W.Va. Code §29-12A-5(A)(4) because the only thing the Respondent alleges is that the KCBOE Adoption failed to adopt a law, including, but not limited to, any statute, charter provision, ordinance, resolution, rule, regulation or written policy. This is clearly not the case and the pleading against the KCBOE prove this. The Respondent alleges that the KCBOE was negligent in its supervision of the Respondent, negligent in protecting the Respondent after the first assault, negligent in reporting the assault to

protect the Respondent and negligent allowing M.P. to return to school after a two-day suspension to play in a basketball game (which GWHS then won the state title).

The KCBOE is clearly not immune as the Respondent did not even plead that the KCBOE did not follow its own policies and procedures, as this was only found out after discovery in the underlying case.

This court has ruled that a negligence claim is not immune. "This conduct alleged in support of the Petitioners' negligence per se claim does not involve either the failure to adopt or the adoption of a policy for which immunity is afforded to the Board. See W. Va. Code § 29-12A-5(a)(4). Rather, these allegations sound in negligence and complement the allegations that the Board negligently retained the Assistant Principal [***17] once it became aware of his conduct set forth in Count 6 of the Petitioners' complaint and discussed infra. Because the Act does not afford immunity for negligence claims, the Petitioners' claim for negligence per se alleging the Board's violation of its policy is not automatically precluded by the Board's assertion of immunity. See Zirkle, 221 W. Va. at 414, 665 S.E.2d at 160. C.C. v. Harrison Cty. Bd. of Educ., 245 W. Va. 594, 603, 859 S.E.2d 762, 771 (2021). In the present case, the KCBOE's negligence does not grant it immunity under the code.

D. The KCBOE was negligent and acted reckless in determining the violation was not sexual in nature and was further negligent in allowing the student M.P. around the Respondent once he returned to assault her again.

The Petitioners did not exercise reasonable care in supervising students as claimed. The Petitioners cite both *Moore* and *W.Va. Code §18A-5-1(f)* and claim that schools have a duty to exercise reasonable care in supervising students and that schools are solely responsible for proper discipline except in extreme cases. Furthermore, the Petitioners state that "courts should not interfere with the decisions of school board officials in disciplinary matters except in extreme

cases." Keith v. Ball, 177 W. Va. 93, 94, 350 S.E.2d 720, 722 (1986).

In the present case, first, the Respondents did not exercise reasonable care. The Petitioner's incorrectly continue to argue that the decision to suspend M.P. on a Level II violation, instead of a Level III violation, was in their clear discretion. Regardless of this argument, the KCBOE was negligent by not protecting the Respondent and allowing the student back around her (after being on notice of the sexual assault) two days later to assault her again.

Second, this is clearly an extreme case. The Respondent was sexually assaulted in the hallway of the school and immediately reported it (A.R. at 0647). The sexual assault lasted for over 10 seconds (Id.). The vice-principal then only suspended M.P for improper touching, even though it was clear that a sexual assault had taken place (A.R. at 349). By doing this, M.P. only received a two-day suspension, the KCBOE Title 9 department was not notified of the sexual assault, the case was not referred to the resource officer or prosecuting attorney and no protection plan was put in place as prescribed by the KCBOE policies and procedures (A.R. at 258). This is clearly an extreme case and there was no reasonable care taken to protect the Respondent. She was not protected and was assaulted again with no protection just days later (A.R. at 0660). Her family was assaulted at a basketball game on KCBOE property and she and her family were harassed by M.P.'s family for months after with no protection.

Finally, the Petitioners cite *Glaspell* incorrectly. In *Glaspell* this court stated that "there was no evidence the Board and its employees had actual knowledge or notice and it was not feasible for school employees to be able to see what every student is doing in the cafeteria and hallways at every moment throughout the school day" *Glaspell v. Taylor Co. Bd. of Educ.*, 2014 WL 5546480 at *3 (2014). This case is clearly different as there were multiple incidents and because there was no protection provided for the Respondent, she was assaulted again and

continued to suffer without protection in a public school that she had to attend per the laws of our state. The argument of the Petitioners is clearly flawed. The circuit court concluded that, viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the Respondent, there was reckless conduct.

E. There was clearly a physical injury to the Respondent as shown in the deposition testimony and the Respondent has plead other theories of negligence that do not require a showing of physical injury.

The Petitioner's allege that the Respondent is precluded from recovery for negligent infliction of emotional distress because she has no ascertainable physical injury and the fact that Defendants could not have stopped M.P.'s initial sexual abuse (A.R. at 0035). However, the damages alleged against Petitioners by the Respondent did in fact constitute physical injury. Furthermore, the negligence arises from their mishandling of the situation after the sexual abuse by M.P., not before or during. The negligent conduct of Petitioners allowed for the further harassment of Respondent by M.P. in and out of school, and the preferred treatment M.P. received as a star member of the basketball team only exacerbated the situation.

Furthermore, the Petitioners continue to incorrectly make claims that West Virginia case law prohibits recovery of damages for negligence when there is no ascertainable physical injury. Defendants cite to Workman v. Kroger Ltd. P'ship I, No. 5:06-cv-00446, 2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 77974 (S.D. W. Va. Oct. 11, 2007), claiming that Workman precludes any type of recovery for emotional damages alone. Defendants then go on to claim that there are only narrow exceptions that clearly do not apply in this case. However, the Petitioners' own case clearly states that the West Virginia Supreme Court has carved out "the West Virginia court found a much broader exception, allowing recovery "for the negligent infliction of emotional distress absent accompanying physical injury upon a showing of facts sufficient to guarantee that the emotional damages claim is not spurious." Id. at *9.

Clearly, in this case, Respondent's claims of emotional damages are not spurious.

Respondent is a young woman still in her minor years who was sexually abused at school.

Respondent then trusted the school to protect her from further harm from the aggressor M.P. Not only did the school fail to protect the Respondent from further harm, the administrators purposely mischaracterized the behavior performed by M.P. so that it would not reflect poorly upon the school's star basketball player. M.P. then attempted to harass Respondent again in the hallway of the school, which was reported again to the Petitioners, but there was no action taken (A.R. at 0836). This conduct, which went expressly against both the KCBOE Policies and Procedures and the GWHS Policies and Procedures, caused Plaintiff to suffer.

VI. CONCLUSION

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